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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Congratulations Winterbotham! To thrive and grow over 30 years is a milestone to celebrate. And to celebrate 

I want to recognize those people who have made this success possible – primarily our clients and our staff. 

Of course, there are others on whom we depend, such as our suppliers and our regulators, and the broader 

communities in which we live, who have all played their part for which we will always be grateful. However, I 

want to highlight the strong sense of commitment and trust which has been fundamental in the delivery of 

services to our clients, the wellbeing and motivation of our staff and the satisfaction and loyalty of our clients. 

We can point to many of them, clients and staff, who have been engaged with us for 15+ years, some for more 

than 25, and we take enormous pride in the continuity and success of these relationships. 

What will it take to thrive and grow over the next 30 years? Some of the challenges are immediate and obvious. 

As I write the lasting results of the pandemic are unknown, when will a vaccine be available, as a result how 

will that change the way digitalization impacts on the way we do business? Others are less clear, projecting 

into the future is never easy. Nevertheless, we can be sure that our resolve to succeed will come from inspiring 

deeper engagement of clients and staff, by reinforcing the values and mission embedded in our culture which 

have served us well thus far, and by promoting our achievements infuse the places where we work with greater 

meaning. 

I wish to thank Sandra Knowles for her many years of service, admirably fulfilling the regulatory role of Resident 

Non-Executive Director, and contributing far more to the activities of the Board.  For almost 15 years on our 

Board, Sandra has been our counsel in respect of Bahamian affairs and we have appreciated her insightful and 

intuitive advice with respect to our operations in The Bahamas. We will always be grateful for the wealth of 

experience she brought to the Board across the financial services industry and we wish her well in the future.

Enabling technology throughout our business is the only way forward. Over our 30-year history we have 

primarily focused improvements with respect to technological development on enhancing productivity gains, 

to constantly improve processes and reduce risk, and this focus is key going forward. More critical now, however, 
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is the speed with which we can reconnect with our customers whose needs are changing rapidly given their 

own experience of the pandemic, so as to engage with them in the digital environment. This may lead us 

to seek to create new value propositions with new partners to create an ecosystem to effectively meet the 

dynamics of the changing market place.

As a people business, staff will need transferrable skills so as to quickly scale operations in areas where growth 

opportunities are identified. While facilitating cross training, we will be moving smartly to implement a digital 

marketing strategy, incorporating the application and targeted use of data to win new clients, drive cross 

selling and develop new revenue lines. 

Winterbotham has a store of formidable experience from which it has, on occasion, produced exceptional 

results. The pressures and challenges which the pandemic has brought about is changing priorities, 

compelling us to invest in and implement the technological advances which will enable the company to lay 

the foundations for sustainability in the new AI world over the next 30 years.

Geoffrey Hooper
CHAIRMAN
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CEO´S YEAR-END
REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Happy 30th Anniversary Winterbotham! This year-end report comes with mixed feelings. Sadness caused by COVID-19 pandemic, 
its impact and consequences for our livelihoods, and, happiness and pride as we reached our 30th financial year-end on 30th June 
2020. Having grown up together with this company, living so closely with and contributing to the inevitable sacrifices along the way, 
experiencing first hand our development and growth, realizing the vision, it gives me great satisfaction to reach this milestone as Chief 
Executive Officer of the organization. 

We thank our clients, staff, existing and former Board members, partners, correspondents, counterparties, advisors, auditors, our 
regulators, friends and all those others who have contributed to our development, for their unerring support of Winterbotham in its 
endeavours to be a great company. 

With a sense of fulfillment, I am delighted to report on this year-end. As we adapt to a new normal, we continue operating with limited 
staff at our main hubs and many staff members working from home, as we respect social distancing and Covid-19 protocols. We do 
our best to keep everybody safe, service our clients, fulfil our regulatory responsibilities and protect the well-being of all involved at 
and with Winterbotham. 

Notwithstanding an uncertain second half of the year, with offices moving into contingency mode and operating remotely, curfews and 
lock downs, we transitioned smoothly thanks to the preparedness of our contingency plans that enabled us to continue working hard 
assuring that all our commitments were duly fulfilled. In fact, resulting in a financial yearend with a record result. The best in our history. 

I thank my team for their tremendous efforts during the year, and particularly as we adapted to the fast changes brought by Covid-19. 
Their adaptation, proactive approach and contribution has been fantastic, and it is a privilege to work with them. I thank you for your 
support. We are confident that, as we achieve our targets and set new ones, adapt to new environments, changes in the economy, 
fulfil our commitments to our stakeholders, we will continue to grow and achieve better results in the future. We continue to strive for a 
stronger organization, more productive relationships and greater efficiencies. 

This year the company had moderate growth. Revenues closed at USD22.6 million, representing just over 8% over the previous 
financial period. Nevertheless, net income before employee participation rose 22% over last year. Given the current environment, 
continued uncertainty, market volatility, extraordinary disruption in the global growth cycle and global geo-political uncertainty, this is 
a solid performance. 

Encouragingly, our Trust Division grew by 4%, our Fund Services division achieved 5% growth, while Corporate Services fell by 15%. 
In the bank, on the transactional side, we saw strong performance throughout our business lines. Placements of excess balances 
throughout the year and increased receipts and payments business generated a 62% increase in revenues in respect of banking 
services. Our brokerage and FX desk income grew by 20% following increased volume of executions, particularly during the volatility 
experienced in March and April in global markets. Structured operations experienced modest growth with an increase of 4% year 
on year.  Unfortunately, our Custody division decreased 20%, an expected decline following the end of life cycle of a relationship 
stemming from the previous year. Our IT services delivery to third parties performed very well growing 16% as compared to last year, 
and we continue to anticipate important growth in this division moving forward.

On the expense side, we managed our costs adequately under the circumstances. Operating costs had a slight decline of 1% 
compared to last year. Managing during a crisis, where concerns with possible slowness in revenue predominated, balancing without 
over-exposing the cost side presented an important challenge during the year. We entered the crisis with 100% of the team, and we 
continue with 100% of the team fully employed. This is very important to our organization and in respect of our contribution to the 
support and maintenance of employment in our jurisdictions. Operating expenses were mainly on budget and we were able to utilize 
capacity effectively, as the profit figure indicates. 

Human Resources continue to be a major management preoccupation as we grow and strive to maintain a high standard of service, 
and the timely onboarding of new business. Unfortunately, due to Covid-19, we had to cancel our Annual Management Retreat – AMR 
2020 - scheduled to take place in early July. An event management looks forward to every year, providing opportunity for learning, 
personal improvement, as well as having a good time together. We hope we will be able to organize the event in 2021. During the 
year, we continued to invest significant management time in the internal evolution of our Leadership and Organisational Development 
Program. I am pleased with the commitment demonstrated by management to further enhance our leadership skills while juggling 
daily business commitments, and adapting to new methods of interacting amongst ourselves. My thanks to all members for their 
super contribution and the results achieved throughout the year under the circumstances. We continue successfully to implement our 
learning and skills acquired during the program, and in doing our best to create the conditions for success for each individual staff 
member and the company as a whole. 

We also continued our investment in staff training throughout the organization. This year we have continued to fund higher education 
courses and post graduate studies, as well as language courses (Mandarin, Spanish, Portuguese and English), and courses in: securities, 
information technology, risk management, compliance, AML/CFT, banking and human resources. The results of our internal employee 
survey reflect a sustained positive trend in our human resources commitment.

Investment and resources in respect of all matters related to Compliance, AML/CFT, internal audit, certifications, risk management, 
regulators and external auditors continue to be the overriding components of our day to day. Our investment in these areas is a 
significant part of our budget, and we strive to exceed global best practices and regulatory requirements. We have a great team of 
dedicated experienced professionals, constantly enhancing and growing these resources to be well positioned and mitigate any risk 
exposure to our business. They are a key component of our operation and we are extremely proud of their work and dedication. 

During the year we also prepared for new regulatory and legislative fillings and reporting requirements, such as BOSS and CESRA, 
and while fulfilling compliance commitments under FATCA and CRS. We are confident in our ability to meet the challenges and the 
changes in legislation and regulation as these are implemented during the upcoming year and into the future. 

We were reevaluated during the year under ISO 9001:2015 and continued with our certifications in respect of REGISTRAR AND 
TRANSFER AGENT (FUND ADMINISTRATION) for Investment Funds (registration number ES-0199/2019) and in respect of NEW 
CLIENT ACCEPTANCE (DUE DILIGENCE) for the onboarding of new clients throughout our business divisions (registration number 
ES-0198/2019). 

Our commitment to developing a social responsibility program continued to progress outstandingly throughout the year. The company 
and the staff have done a fantastic job in making this a real success, and I am very proud of their work. 

In recognition of the hard work and dedication of our staff, the company is proud to have been able to award bonuses for those who 
qualified in these uncertain times, paid through employee profit participation and performance bonuses. 

The outlook remains uncertain: zero/negative interest rate environment and the likely slow recovery of global economies will provide 
interesting challenges to navigate as we head into our next financial year and beyond. We are prepared and focused to keep this 30-
year success story going forward.

Bold moves will be needed to meet these challenges assuring us of exciting times ahead. We still have a lot to do, and much to achieve. 
Always provided we keep our focus and dedication, I have no doubt that we will be able to continue to provide great employment 
opportunities, play our part in contributing to environmental, social and corporate governance thus sustaining our business with the 
promise of a better future for all our stakeholders.

Well done team!
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compared to last year. Managing during a crisis, where concerns with possible slowness in revenue predominated, balancing without 
over-exposing the cost side presented an important challenge during the year. We entered the crisis with 100% of the team, and we 
continue with 100% of the team fully employed. This is very important to our organization and in respect of our contribution to the 
support and maintenance of employment in our jurisdictions. Operating expenses were mainly on budget and we were able to utilize 
capacity effectively, as the profit figure indicates. 

Human Resources continue to be a major management preoccupation as we grow and strive to maintain a high standard of service, 
and the timely onboarding of new business. Unfortunately, due to Covid-19, we had to cancel our Annual Management Retreat – AMR 
2020 - scheduled to take place in early July. An event management looks forward to every year, providing opportunity for learning, 
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daily business commitments, and adapting to new methods of interacting amongst ourselves. My thanks to all members for their 
super contribution and the results achieved throughout the year under the circumstances. We continue successfully to implement our 
learning and skills acquired during the program, and in doing our best to create the conditions for success for each individual staff 
member and the company as a whole. 

We also continued our investment in staff training throughout the organization. This year we have continued to fund higher education 
courses and post graduate studies, as well as language courses (Mandarin, Spanish, Portuguese and English), and courses in: securities, 
information technology, risk management, compliance, AML/CFT, banking and human resources. The results of our internal employee 
survey reflect a sustained positive trend in our human resources commitment.

Investment and resources in respect of all matters related to Compliance, AML/CFT, internal audit, certifications, risk management, 
regulators and external auditors continue to be the overriding components of our day to day. Our investment in these areas is a 
significant part of our budget, and we strive to exceed global best practices and regulatory requirements. We have a great team of 
dedicated experienced professionals, constantly enhancing and growing these resources to be well positioned and mitigate any risk 
exposure to our business. They are a key component of our operation and we are extremely proud of their work and dedication. 

During the year we also prepared for new regulatory and legislative fillings and reporting requirements, such as BOSS and CESRA, 
and while fulfilling compliance commitments under FATCA and CRS. We are confident in our ability to meet the challenges and the 
changes in legislation and regulation as these are implemented during the upcoming year and into the future. 

We were reevaluated during the year under ISO 9001:2015 and continued with our certifications in respect of REGISTRAR AND 
TRANSFER AGENT (FUND ADMINISTRATION) for Investment Funds (registration number ES-0199/2019) and in respect of NEW 
CLIENT ACCEPTANCE (DUE DILIGENCE) for the onboarding of new clients throughout our business divisions (registration number 
ES-0198/2019). 

Our commitment to developing a social responsibility program continued to progress outstandingly throughout the year. The company 
and the staff have done a fantastic job in making this a real success, and I am very proud of their work. 

In recognition of the hard work and dedication of our staff, the company is proud to have been able to award bonuses for those who 
qualified in these uncertain times, paid through employee profit participation and performance bonuses. 

The outlook remains uncertain: zero/negative interest rate environment and the likely slow recovery of global economies will provide 
interesting challenges to navigate as we head into our next financial year and beyond. We are prepared and focused to keep this 30-
year success story going forward.

Bold moves will be needed to meet these challenges assuring us of exciting times ahead. We still have a lot to do, and much to achieve. 
Always provided we keep our focus and dedication, I have no doubt that we will be able to continue to provide great employment 
opportunities, play our part in contributing to environmental, social and corporate governance thus sustaining our business with the 
promise of a better future for all our stakeholders.

Well done team!

Ivan Hooper
CEO
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GROSS REVENUE BREAKDOWN

ASSET COMPARISON

Cash and Cash Equivalents Accounts Receivable Others Fixed Assets Investment Portfolio 

Companies & Trusts Funds 

Corporate Finance Custody Services 

Financial Institutions Financial Operations Financial Income & Other  

WCA.net Fees Brokerage & Forex Op. 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

RATIOS

Net Income / Total Income Net Income / Shareholders´ Equity Total Debtors / Total Income 
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Regulated by the Central Bank of The Bahamas and the Securities Commission,
The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited is a bank and trust company,

investment fund administrator and broker/dealer.

Regulated by the Central Bank of Uruguay, Winterbotham Fiduciaria S.A.
is a fund administrator and trust company.

Regulated in Hong Kong by the Companies Registry under 
the Trustee Ordinance and the Anti-Money Laundering 

and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance, 
The Winterbotham Trust Company (Hong Kong) Limited is a 

licensed Trust Company and Company Service Business.

Regulated by the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority, 
Winterbotham Corporate and Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

is a registered Mutual Fund Administrator and a 
Companies Management Licensee.

Regulated in Puerto Rico by the Office of the Commissioner 
of Financial Institutions (‘OCFI’), 

WTC International Bank Corporation is an International Financial Entity 
licensed to accept deposits, make loans and carry out 

general banking transactions as defined in the 
Article 12 of Act 273-2012,

 of the International Financial Entities Act.

The main divisions are:

The Winterbotham Merchant Bank, 
Winterbotham Trust & Fiduciary Services,

Winterbotham International Securities, 
Winterbotham Fund Services,

Winterbotham Corporate Services, 
Winterbotham Corporate Finance

and Winterbotham Outsourcing Services.

The Winterbotham Merchant Bank
Provides Cash Management services to a broad 
range of businesses involved in cross-border financial 
transactions, trade and investment.  Receive and pay 
money internationally with ease and efficiency and 
optimize overnight placement of surplus liquidity.

Accounts are multi-currency and may be established 
in any world currency.

Winterbotham Trust & Fiduciary Services
Comprehensive trust administration services including 
PTC’s to meet both the objectives of corporations and 
individuals.

Corporate trust services – escrow agent, loan trustee, 
dissolutions trusts.

Winterbotham Corporate Services
Prime solutions for complex situations structuring 
transactions and operations for corporate customers 
and their shareholders.

Proven ability in the implementation of cross border 
trade and investment.

Added value in the provision of administrative and 
accounting (IFRS) services.
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Winterbotham Funds Services
Tailor-made provision of advisory, licensing, and 
incorporation services to fund sponsors, promoters and 
managers.

Providing domiciliary, administrative, registrar and transfer 
agent, compliance, and full accounting services (daily, 
weekly, monthly, quarterly NAV) to investment funds, 
including hedge, private equity, venture capital and 
alternative investment funds.

Execution, clearing, custody and asset servicing.

Winterbotham International Securities 
Provides non-discretionary – execution only – brokerage 
services.

Executing and trading fixed income and equities – 
specializing in emerging markets.

Global Custody platform via
Winterbotham Custody Services

Winterbotham Corporate Finance
Providing corporate finance, merger & acquisition, and 
structured trade finance services to middle-market 
corporations in Mercosur, Caribbean and Asia Pacific 
regions and for companies seeking to undertake business 
or investments in Latin America and China.

The division is also actively engaged in providing both 
equity and debt financing solutions and in  advising on 
joint-venture or acquisition strategies for its clients.

Winterbotham Outsourcing Services
Provides administrative, IT (support and contingency), 
compliance, accounting services and physical presence 
infrastructure on an outsourced basis to financial 
institutions and corporations.

The Winterbotham Merchant Bank
Provides Cash Management services to a broad 
range of businesses involved in cross-border financial 
transactions, trade and investment.  Receive and pay 
money internationally with ease and efficiency and 
optimize overnight placement of surplus liquidity.

Accounts are multi-currency and may be established 
in any world currency.

Winterbotham Trust & Fiduciary Services
Comprehensive trust administration services including 
PTC’s to meet both the objectives of corporations and 
individuals.

Corporate trust services – escrow agent, loan trustee, 
dissolutions trusts.

Winterbotham Corporate Services
Prime solutions for complex situations structuring 
transactions and operations for corporate customers 
and their shareholders.

Proven ability in the implementation of cross border 
trade and investment.

Added value in the provision of administrative and 
accounting (IFRS) services.
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BOARD  OF  DIRECTORS

GEOFFREY HOOPER
Chairman – Executive Director

Established Winterbotham in 1990. Previously Geoffrey was 
Vice President and Senior Area Representative for Lloyds Bank 
International Private Banking, a part of LLoyds Bank Plc, and a 
director of Lloyds (IPB) Americas SA. With more than 30 years 
experience in International banking and financial services, Geoffrey 
has worked in the UK, Spain, and Latin America with Lloyds Bank 
Plc, Natwest lnternational Trust Corporation (formerly Roywest 
Trust Corporation), the Arab Latin American Bank (Arlabank) and 
Tradition International S.A.

IVAN HOOPER
Executive Director

Our CEO, has spent more than nineteen years at Winterbotham, 
starting as an Independent Consultant for The Winterbotham Trust 
Company (Uruguay) S.A., before joining the Group full time in July 
2001. Ivan has a BSc. in Business Administration from the University 
of Bath, a MBA Wealth Managers, Fiduciaries and Trustees from the 
University of Manchester, and is a graduate of Harvard Business 
School on the Owners Presidents Management program. Ivan is 
a member of STEP, a STEP Council member, a founding member 
and past Chair of STEP - South America Branch and past Chair and 
current representative of STEP Caribbean and Latin America Region. 
A Fellow of the International Compliance Association and Licensed 
as a Principal by the Securities Commission of The Bahamas. Ivan 
sits on the board of various regulated financial institutions and 
family owned businesses. Currently, Co-Chair of the Association of 
International Bank and Trust companies in The Bahamas. Ivan was 
a recipient of the STEP 2014 Founder’s Awards for Outstanding 
Achievement and the recipient of the Bahamas Financial Service 
Board 14th FSI Excellence Award of Executive of the Year.
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BOARD  OF  DIRECTORS

SANDRA KNOWLES
Independent Resident Non-executive Director

An historian, and teacher at heart, Sandra’s experience in the financial 
services industry spanned more than twenty years, during which time 
she acquired extensive expertise in international banking and financial 
regulation. Having spent thirteen years at Roywest Corporation (Bahamas) 
Limited, In 1993, Sandra was appointed the first female General Manager of 
the Broadcasting Corporation of The Bahamas. In 1997, she became the first 
female Chief Executive Officer of The Securities Commission of The Bahamas, 
a position she held until 2002. From 2002, Sandra serves AF Holdings Group 
of Companies in many capacities, including director, consultant and General 
Manager to the Nassau Guardian (1844) Ltd. She continues to advise in the 
successful development of multiple small businesses.

ALAN DAVIDSON
Non-Executive Director

A highly successful banker, Alan was Chief Executive Officer of Winterbotham 
from 2005 to 2012 and Chief Banking Officer until 2013. Previously with ABN 
AMRO Bank for 15 years, where he held notable senior management posts as 
Director Latin America, based in the USA, Chief Operations Officer in Uruguay, 
and SVP Operations in Brazil. Before that he held various senior management 
positions with Lloyds TSB Bank, where he spent 15 years between Brazil and 
the United Kingdom. In recent years he has also become an accomplished 
corporate governance and compliance executive, having obtained from 
Florida International University a diploma of Anti-Money Laundering officer.

IAN HARJETTE
Non-Executive Director

Ian is a senior investment banking executive with more than 30 years of 
experience operating internationally in Europe, Asia, the Americas and the 
Middle East. He has held a range of senior management roles most recently 
as Global Head of Financial Institutions Banking at Banco Santander. Ian sat on 
Santander’s Corporate and Investment Banking Executive Committee and was 
responsible for the development of the bank’s Financial Institutions Banking 
strategy, providing financing and advisory services to Asset Management 
Groups, Banks, Insurance Companies and Governmental Bodies. Prior to 
joining Santander, Ian held a series of senior management positions at Bank 
of America in London and at Lehman Brothers in Tokyo and London. Ian is 
now a private investor and advisor working with innovative start up and early 
stage businesses in the financial services and entertainment sectors. He sits on 
the boards of a number of London based charitable organisations, focusing 
primarily on educational and social welfare issues.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Board of Directors of The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited:

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2020, and the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at June 30, 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information 

Management and those charged with governance are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information 
comprises all the information in the Group’s 2020 Annual Report other than the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon (“the Other Information”). The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date 
of this auditors’ report. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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October 28, 2020

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditors’ report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.
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See notes to consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
Board of Directors on October 21, 2020, are signed on its behalf by:

ASSETS Notes 2020 2019

CURRENT ASSETS:
   Cash and cash equivalents 5 $  41,403,528 $  36,669,238 
   Trade receivables, net 6  1,015,520  1,206,378 
   Prepaid expenses and other assets 7, 25  655,782  571,022 
   Repurchase agreements 8  2,523,134  779,862 
   Investments 9  17,319,986  20,269,123 
   Precious metals 10  3,854,417  3,047,646 
          Total current assets  66,772,367  62,543,269 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
   Security deposits  1,017,664  1,039,873 
   Property, plant and equipment, net 11  4,092,279  4,055,860 
   Intangibles 12  58,511  65,034 
   Deferred tax assets 26, 27  37,289  24,264 
         Total non-current assets  5,205,743  5,185,031 
TOTAL $  71,978,110 $  67,728,300 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
   Call accounts 14, 25 $  41,258,217 $  40,661,658 
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 15, 25  4,199,551  3,737,400 
   Loans and interest payable 17  681,454  644,686 
   Lease liabilities 13  146,762  - 
   Dividends payable 22  6,500,000  4,500,000 
   Advances from clients 16  545,218  612,127 
   Fees received in advance 16  1,915,223  1,932,562 
          Total current liabilities  55,246,425  52,088,433 
NON- CURRENT LIABILITIES:
   Lease liabilities 13  197,034  - 
          Total non-current liabilities  197,034  - 
EQUITY:
   Share capital:
   Authorized, issued and fully paid:
      2,500,000 shares of $1 each  2,500,000  2,500,000 
   Contributed surplus 23  551,000  551,000 
   Legal reserves 24  213,806  200,152 
   Fair value reserves 10  2,017,178  1,210,407 
   Retained earnings  11,247,918  11,170,025 
          Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  16,529,902  15,631,584 
   Non-controlling interest  4,749  8,283 
          Total equity  16,534,651  15,639,867 

TOTAL $  71,978,110 $  67,728,300 

Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2020 (Expressed in United States Dollars)

Director
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See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 (Expressed in United States Dollars)

Notes 2020 2019

 INCOME:

  Fees for administration services $  12,192,795 $  12,277,263 

  Commissions and fees on fiduciary transactions 18  7,282,200  5,436,140 

  Fees for company incorporation services  341,920  366,359 

          Total net fee and commission income  19,816,915  18,079,762 

EXPENSES:

   Salaries and benefits 25  (8,022,610)  (8,213,185)

   Administrative and general expenses 20  (4,034,109)  (4,056,551)

   Employee profit participation 19, 25  (2,070,000)  (1,898,000)

   Costs related with fees on fiduciary transactions 18  (787,477)  (462,027)

   Depreciation 11  (513,727)  (467,327)

   Amortization 12  (54,063)  (115,990)

   Costs related to company incorporation services  (65,405)  (68,510)

   Commissions  (326,866)  (315,217)

          Total expenses  (15,874,257)  (15,596,807)

          Profit from operations  3,942,658  2,482,955 

NET FINANCIAL INCOME 21  2,724,037  2,795,342 

OTHER RESULTS  39,725  3,167 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  6,706,420  5,281,464 

   Taxation 26, 27  (118,407)  (98,069)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  6,588,013  5,183,395 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

   Revaluation surplus on precious metals  806,771  329,396 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR $  7,394,784 $  5,512,791 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

   Revaluation surplus on precious metals $  806,771 $  329,396 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 (Expressed in United States dollars)

Balance as at June 30, 2018 $  2,500,000 $  551,000 $  189,213 $  881,011 $  10,466,862 $  14,588,086 $  38,990 $  14,627,076 

Net income for the year  -  -  -  -  5,214,102  5,214,102  (30,707)  5,183,395 

Legal reserve 24  -  -  10,939  -  (10,939)  -  -  - 

Dividends declared 22  -  -  -  -  (4,500,000)  (4,500,000)  -  (4,500,000)

Other comprehensive income

   for the year  -  -  -  329,396  -  329,396  -  329,396 

Balance as at June 30, 2019  2,500,000  551,000  200,152  1,210,407  11,170,025  15,631,584  8,283  15,639,867 

Net income for the year  -  -  -  -  6,591,547  6,591,547  (3,534)  6,588,013 

Legal reserve 24  -  -  13,654  -  (13,654)  -  -  - 

Dividends declared 22  -  -  -  -  (6,500,000)  (6,500,000)  -  (6,500,000)

Other comprehensive income

   for the year  -  -  -  806,771  -  806,771  -  806,771 

Balance as at June 30, 2020 $  2,500,000 $  551,000 $  213,806 $  2,017,178 $  11,247,918 $  16,529,902 $  4,749 $  16,534,651 

Fair value
Reserves

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

Legal
Reserves

   Retained
   Earnings

Equity
attributable

to equity
holders  of
the parent

Non-
controlling

interest Total

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Notes
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Balance as at June 30, 2018 $  2,500,000 $  551,000 $  189,213 $  881,011 $  10,466,862 $  14,588,086 $  38,990 $  14,627,076 

Net income for the year  -  -  -  -  5,214,102  5,214,102  (30,707)  5,183,395 

Legal reserve 24  -  -  10,939  -  (10,939)  -  -  - 

Dividends declared 22  -  -  -  -  (4,500,000)  (4,500,000)  -  (4,500,000)

Other comprehensive income

   for the year  -  -  -  329,396  -  329,396  -  329,396 

Balance as at June 30, 2019  2,500,000  551,000  200,152  1,210,407  11,170,025  15,631,584  8,283  15,639,867 

Net income for the year  -  -  -  -  6,591,547  6,591,547  (3,534)  6,588,013 

Legal reserve 24  -  -  13,654  -  (13,654)  -  -  - 

Dividends declared 22  -  -  -  -  (6,500,000)  (6,500,000)  -  (6,500,000)

Other comprehensive income

   for the year  -  -  -  806,771  -  806,771  -  806,771 

Balance as at June 30, 2020 $  2,500,000 $  551,000 $  213,806 $  2,017,178 $  11,247,918 $  16,529,902 $  4,749 $  16,534,651 

Total

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 (Expressed in United States dollars)

Notes 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
   Profit for the year $  6,588,013 $  5,183,395 
   Adjustments for:
      Depreciation 11  513,727  467,327 
      Amortization 12  54,063  115,990 
      Deferred tax 27  (13,025)  (24,234)
      Unrealized gain on investments  (278,466)  (45,835)
      Gain on disposal of fixed assets and intangibles  (18,685)  (43,618)
          Net cash from operations before working capital changes  6,845,627  5,653,025 
      Decrease in trade receivables, net  190,858  33,050 
      (Increase) Decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets  (155,469)  21,797 
      Decrease (Increase) in security deposits  22,209  (181,492)
      Increase (Decrease) in call accounts  596,559  (237,347)
      Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  462,151  20,650 
      Decrease in advances from clients  (66,909)  (216,490)
      Decrease in fees received in advance  (17,339)  (126,020)
          Net cash from operating activities  7,877,687  4,967,173 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
   Purchase of fixed assets 11  (124,920)  (302,041)
   Purchase of intangibles 12  (47,540)  (98,145)
   New purchase agreements  (3,930,559)  (1,719,940)
   Repurchase agreements proceeds  2,208,252  1,733,931 
   Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  18,685  74,093 
   Proceeds from sale of intangibles  -    83,927 
   Purchase of investments  (34,781,927)  (23,587,782)
   Proceeds from sale of investments  38,010,757  42,831,131 
          Net cash from investing activities  1,352,748  19,015,174 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING  ACTIVITIES:
   Dividends paid  (4,500,000)  (4,000,000)
   Loan advances  51,072  - 
   Payment of lease liability  (61,764)  - 
   Interest received from repurchase agreements  72,451  176,079 
   Interest paid  (57,904)  (103,254)
          Net cash used in financing activities  (4,496,145)  (3,927,175)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  4,734,290  20,055,172 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR  36,669,238  16,614,066 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR  $  41,403,528 $  36,669,238 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
   Interest received $  2,317,807 $  1,564,664 
   Non collected interest on Repurchase agreement $  20,965 $  18,451 
   Lease additions $  425,226 $  - 
   Taxes paid $  348,839 $  336,644 
   Dividends received $  721 $  390 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. GENERAL

The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated and licensed in The Commonwealth of The 
Bahamas in 1994 under the Bank & Trust Companies Regulation Act of 1965, and is a 75% subsidiary of Winterbotham 
Holdings Limited. In December 1996, the Company was granted a license to carry on unrestricted banking and trust 
business, activities which, today, are subject to the terms and conditions of the Bank & Trust Companies Regulation Act, 
2000. The Company is regulated by the Central Bank of The Bahamas. The Company is also a licensed fund administrator 
and securities broker/dealer, activities that are regulated by Securities Commission of The Bahamas.

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, which are 
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”.

As of June 30, 2020, the Company’s holdings in subsidiaries are as follows:

NAME
OF SUBSIDIARY

PLACE OF
INCORPORATION
AND OPERATION

OWNERSHIP
INTEREST

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Winterbotham
   Trust Company
   (Uruguay) S.A.

Uruguay 100%

Provides administrative services to the 
parent company on internal matters 

(such as certain accounting functions) 
and also with respect to client servicing 
(with particular focus on clients in Latin 
America due to geographical proximity 

and language similarity).

Shiffel Corp. S.A. Uruguay 100%

Provides administrative services to the 
parent company on internal matters 

(such as certain accounting functions) 
and also with respect to client servicing 
(with particular focus on clients in Latin 
America due to geographical proximity 
and language similarity).  The Company 
also provides IT contingency services to 
its Parent and to its clients. This company 

operates from a free trade zone.

Winterbotham 
Properties Limited

Bahamas 100% Holds real-estate in Nassau.

Haplar Holdings S.A. Uruguay 100% Holds real-estate in Uruguay.

WNS Limited Bahamas 100%
Acts as Company Secretary for client 

companies.

WND Limited Bahamas 100%
Acts as Company Director for client 

companies.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 (Expressed in United States dollars)

20



Delacroix Limited and Delaroche Limited are duly licensed and regulated by the Central Bank of The Bahamas as Nominee 
Trust Companies. These companies, acting individually or together, are nominees for The Winterbotham Trust Company 
Limited in its capacity as trustee and/or custodian.  WNS Limited, WND Limited and WTD Limited have been approved 
by the Central Bank of The Bahamas with a restricted license. Winterbotham Fiduciaria S.A. Administradora de Fondos de 
Inversión is duly licensed and regulated by the Central Bank of Uruguay as a Fund Administrator and professional Trust 
Company and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Winterbotham Trust Company (Uruguay) S.A. Also, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of The Winterbotham Trust Company (Uruguay) S.A., WBTC Investment Advisors S.A. has been registered with 
the Central Bank of Uruguay and will begin operations on October 1, 2020.

On July 19th 2018 WTC International Bank Corporation obtained from the Office of the Commissioner of Financial 
Institutions of Puerto Rico a license to operate as an International Financial Entity, in accordance with Act No. 273 of 
September 25, 2012, known as the International Financial Center Regulatory Act. 

The registered office of the Company is Winterbotham Place, Marlborough and Queen Streets, Nassau, Bahamas.

The average number of employees for the year is 129 (2019: 127).

NAME
OF SUBSIDIARY

PLACE OF
INCORPORATION
AND OPERATION

OWNERSHIP
INTEREST

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

WTD Limited Bahamas 100%
Acts as Company Director for client 

companies.

Delacroix Limited Bahamas 100%

Acts as a nominee of 
The Winterbotham Trust Company 

Limited in its capacity as trustee and/or 
custodian.

Delaroche Limited Bahamas 100%

Acts as a nominee of 
The Winterbotham Trust Company 

Limited in its capacity as trustee and/or 
custodian.

   The Winterbotham Trust 
Company

(Hong Kong) Limited
Hong Kong 97 %

Provides fiduciary, corporate, and trust 
services to clients and represents the 

Group in Asia.

Winterbotham Corporate
and Funds Services 
(Cayman) Limited

Cayman 100%
Provides corporate and funds services 
to clients and represents the group in 

Cayman.

WTC International Bank 
Corporation

Puerto Rico 100%
Provides banking services as an 

International Financial Entity.
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The following standards, amendments and interpretations are only effective for accounting periods, beginning on or after 
the date mentioned against each of them. 

In the current year, the Group has applied amendments to following IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB 
that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after January 1, 2019. Their adoption has not had any material 
impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements.

New and amended Standards       Effective for annual periods 
         beginning on or after 

IFRS 9   Amendments to IFRS 9 - Prepayment    January 1, 2019
   Features with Negative Compensation  
 
IAS 28   Amendments to IAS 28 - Long-term    January 1, 2019   
   Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
    
IAS 19               Amendments to IAS 19 Employee   January 1, 2019
          Benefits - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or     
   Settlement        

IFRIC 23   Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  January 1, 2019

Annual Improvements  Amendments to IFRS 3 Business    January 1, 2019
to IFRS Standards   Combinations, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, 
2015–2017 Cycle  IAS 12 Income Taxes and 

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND IFRS INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR 
THE CURRENT YEAR
       
The following standards, amendments and interpretations are only effective for accounting periods, beginning on or after 
the date mentioned against each of them. 
Management has not assessed whether the relevant adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods will 
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Company.

New and amended Standards       Effective for annual periods 
         beginning on or after 

IFRS 17   Insurance Contracts – New standard   January 1, 2023
 
IFRS 10 and  IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements  (*)   
IAS 28   and IAS 28 (amendments) - Sale or        
   Contribution of Assets between an Investor      
   and its Associate or Joint Venture       
           
Amendments to  Definition of a business    January 1, 2020 
IFRS 3
 
Amendments to   Definition of material    January 1, 2020
IAS 1 and IAS 8           

Conceptual   Amendments to References to the   January 1, 2020
Framework  Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
  
(*) The IASB decided in September 2014 to defer the effective date indefinitely; nevertheless, the amendments are 
available for earlier adoption.

The following amendments and interpretations are effective for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) AND INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS (IAS)
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Impact of initial application of IFRS 16 Leases

The Group applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial 
application is recognised in retained earnings at July 1, 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 
2019 is not restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 17 and related interpretations. The details of 
the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 16 have not 
generally been applied to comparative information.

• Definition of a Lease

Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease under IAS 17. 
The Group now assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease (see note 13).

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which 
transactions are leases. The Group applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts 
that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for whether there is a lease under IFRS 
16. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 
July 2019.

• As a lessee

As a lessee, the Group leases a few assets including office building and IT equipment. The Group previously classified 
leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the Group. Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities for most of these leases – i.e. these leases are on-balance sheet. 

Leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17

Previously, the Group classified property leases as operating leases under IAS 17. On transition, for these leases, lease 
liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate as at 1 July 2019. Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the 
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments: the Group applied this approach to all other leases. 

The Group used a number of practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating 
leases under IAS 17. In particular, the Group: 

 • did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months 
 of the date of initial application; 
 • did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low value assets (e.g. IT equipment) for a total 
 of USD 13,467; 
 • excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and 
 • used hindsight when determining the lease term.

• Impact on financial statement

The impact on transition is summarised below:

July 1, 2019

Right-of-use assets – property, plant and equipment 425,226

Lease liabilities 425,226

Retained earnings -

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Group discounted lease payments 
using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019. The weighted-average rate applied is 4.93%. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance - These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Basis of preparation - The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except for the revaluation of certain assets and liabilities.

The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies:

a. Basis of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries - Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the Company, entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company, and its subsidiaries.  
Control is achieved when the Company:

 • Has power over the investee;

 • Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and,

 • Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company 
loses control of the subsidiary.  Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the 
date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

ii.Transactions eliminated on consolidation - Intra-group balances and any unrealized gains or losses or income and 
expenses arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

b. Financial instruments - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial 
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 
on the classification of the financial assets.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period.
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The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the 
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that 
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is 
the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised 
cost. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the net carrying value of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on 
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL:

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset and is included in the ‘dividend income’ line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for account receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets 
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast 
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. On 
derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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Land Not depreciated
Housing property 2%
Office building improvements 6.67% to 25%
Vehicles 10% to 25%
Office equipment 20% to 50%
Office furniture and fittings 10%

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter 
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

c. Cash and cash equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand accounts, short term deposits, 
overnight placements and investments in money market funds with original maturities of three months or less and subject 
to no significant change in value.

d. Assets held under repurchase agreements - The Group purchases securities under agreements to resell (reverse 
repurchase agreements).  Reverse repurchase agreements are treated as short-term collateralized lending transactions. 
Reverse repurchase agreements are stated on the consolidated statement of financial position at amortized cost.

Assets pledged as collateral for reverse repurchase agreements are held in a fiduciary capacity. Interest income on reverse 
repurchase agreements is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in financial income.

e. Precious metals- Investments in precious metals are initially measured at cost and are subsequently remeasured at fair 
value based on quoted market prices. 

Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of precious metals investments are recognized in the consolidated 
statement profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

f. Property, plant and equipment, net - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.  Depreciation is being provided by the straight-line method at the following rates:

g. Intangibles – Software licenses are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Amortization is 
being provided by the straight-line method at the following rates:

h. Impairment – Tangible and intangible assets are reviewed at each consolidated statement of financial position date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 
is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of the asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income.

Software 33% to 50%
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The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use.  In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate cash flows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognized.

i. Revenue recognition - Revenue is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive 
income when performance obligation is met in the form of provision of services, and right to receive the payment has been 
established. No revenue is recognized if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due 
and associated costs.

j. Interest income and expenses - Interest income and expenses are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit and 
loss and other comprehensive income on an accrual basis, using effective interest rates.

k. Commissions - Commissions are recognized when earned, which is when performance obligation is met in the form of 
provision of services, and right to receive the payment has been established.

l. Provisions - A provision is recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group has a present 
and legal obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation.

m. Classification - Assets are classified as current when intended for sale in the normal operating cycle, or held primarily 
for the purpose of being traded, or expected to be realized within twelve months or when classified as cash and cash 
equivalents. All other assets are classified as non-current. Liabilities are classified as current when expected to be settled in 
the normal operating cycle, or held primarily for the purpose of being traded, or due to be settled within twelve months, 
or there are no unconditional rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months. All other liabilities are classified as non-
current.

n. Assets under management - Assets under management which are held in a fiduciary capacity for clients are excluded 
from the consolidated financial statements, other than those assets and liabilities which related to banking, securities 
execution and custody services provided by the Group to their clients.

o. Related parties - Related parties include officers and directors who are related through having authority and 
responsibility for directing and controlling the activities of the Group and companies related through common directors 
and/or shareholders.

p. Foreign currency translation - The Group’s functional currency is United States Dollars.  In preparing the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group, transactions in currencies other than United States Dollars are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.  At each consolidated statement of financial position date, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the statement of financial position date.  
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing 
on the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated at the rates prevailing on the statement of financial position date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are included in 
financial income in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. Exchange differences 
arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in financial income in the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for the period.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors are required to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying the Company’s accounting policies - There are no critical judgments, apart from those 
involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty - The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

a. Impairment - The Group has significant cash and cash equivalents, investments in fixed assets, trade receivables and 
security deposit. Trade receivables and security deposits impairment is assessed using Expected Credit Loss (ECL) method 
as mentioned in note 3(b). Fixed assets are assessed for impairment under IAS 36.

Estimating recoverable amounts of assets must in part be based on management evaluations, including estimates of future 
performance, revenue generating capacity of the assets, assumptions of the future market conditions and the success in 
marketing of new products and services. Changes in circumstances and in management’s evaluations and assumptions 
may give rise to impairment losses in the relevant periods.
 
b. Depreciation - Depreciation is based on management estimates of the future useful life of fixed assets. Estimates may 
change due to technological developments, competition, changes in market conditions and other factors and may result 
in changes in the estimated useful life and in the depreciation charges. The Group reviews the future useful life of fixed 
assets periodically, taking into consideration the factors mentioned above and all other important factors.

Estimated useful life for similar types of assets may vary between different entities in the Group due to local factors such as 
growth rate, maturity of the market, history and expectations for replacements or transfer of assets, climate, etc. In the case 
of significant changes in the estimated useful lives, depreciation charges are adjusted prospectively.

c. Legal proceedings, claims and regulatory discussions - The Group is subject to various legal proceedings, claims and 
regulatory discussions, the outcomes of which are subject to significant uncertainty. The Group evaluates, among other 
factors, the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount 
of loss.  Unanticipated events or changes in these factors may require the Group to increase or decrease the amount 
the Group has accrued for any matter or accrue for a matter that has not been previously accrued because it was not 
considered probable or a reasonable estimate could not be made.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following:

                         2020                          2019

Balance
Average

Rate Balance
Average

Rate

Cash on hand $  17,185 0.00% $  34,728 0.00%

Demand accounts  17,516,501 0.00%  17,304,863 0.00%

Short term deposits  1,312,193 1.17%  1,282,602 1.66%

Shares in money market funds:

   Western Asset Institutional Liquid Reserves Ltd.  10,716,982 0.09%  8,760,356 2.36%

   HSBC US Global Liquidity Funds  8,823,354 0.13%  4,071,711 2.38%

   HSBC Sterling Liquidity Funds  2,825,027 0.17%  3,206,018 0.67%

   Western Assets Institutional Cash Reserves, Class 1  10,000 0.32%  1,977,695 2.36%

   Western Asset Institutional U.S. Treasury

   Reserves Ltd. Class 1  154,590 0.08%  4,130 2.20%

   Merril Lynch autocall  27,696 0.01%  27,135 0.40%

$  41,403,528 $  36,669,238 

6. TRADE RECEIVABLES, NET

2020 2019

Trade receivables $  1,552,462 $  1,615,471 

Provision for doubtful accounts:

   Balance, beginning of year  (409,093)  (383,851)

   Provision for the year   (231,952)   (212,021)

   Write offs  104,103  186,779 

   Balance, end of year  (536,942)  (409,093)

Accounts receivable, net $  1,015,520 $  1,206,378 

Trade receivables, net is comprised of the following:
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2020 2019

Current $  244,528 $  483,906 

31 - 60 days  85,760  175,326  

61 - 90 days  156,118  190,458 

Over 90 days   1,066,056   765,781 

$  1,552,462 $  1,615,471 

The aging of trade receivables is as follows:

Trade receivables- days past due

6/30/2020 TOTAL <30 31-60 61-90 91-120 >120

Expected credit

   loss rate 4% 10% 12% 20% 54%

Estimated total

   gross carrying

   amount at default  1,552,462  244,528  85,760  156,118  220,594  845,462 

 536,942  8,808  8,576  18,890  44,119  456,549 

Trade receivables- days past due

6/30/2019 TOTAL <30 31-60 61-90 91-120 >120

Expected credit

   loss rate 3% 8% 18% 20% 51%

Estimated total

   gross carrying

   amount at default  1,615,471  483,906  175,326  190,458  142,961  622,820 

 409,093  14,517  14,064  34,282  28,592  317,638 
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7. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER ASSETS

Notes 2020 2019

Accounts with related entities 25 $  - $  11,735 

Deferred expenses  345,435  364,337 

Loans to staff  53,090  72,339 

Advances to suppliers  40,244  16,320 

Tax advances  154,166  80,627 

Other Assets  62,847  25,664 

$  655,782 $  571,022 

Prepaid expenses and other assets are comprised of the following:

8. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

2020 2019 2020 2019

                                 Capital Rate Maturity

Agreement #1  $  186,172  $  167,596 10.50% 10.50% 7/28/2020

Agreement #2  93,890  112,266 10.50% 10.50% 7/28/2020

Agreement #3  500,000  500,000 2.36% 2.00% 8/19/2020

Agreement #4  800,000  - 3.37%  -   3/31/2021

Agreement #5  793,072  - 3.37%  -   3/31/2021

Agreement #6  150,000  - 2.32%  -   6/10/2021

$  2,523,134 $ 779,862 

These are specific lending agreements fully guaranteed by securities’ collateral held on account.  It is not part of the 
Group’s regular activity to grant such agreements, but it may do so on a case by case basis, requiring full securities’ 
collateral in every case. As of June 30, 2020, six agreements remained outstanding (2019: three agreements):

31



9. INVESTMENTS

2020 2019

FVTPL

Equities $  1,198,696 $  1,010,615 

Fixed Income Bonds  865,154  4,083,128 

Floating Rate Notes  10,715,988  12,202,038 

Treasury Bills  3,765,243  2,206,871 

Other  774,905  766,471 

Total $  17,319,986 $  20,269,123 

Investments are comprised of the following:

10. PRECIOUS METALS

Gold Bullion 2020 2019

Gold (cost) $  1,837,239 $  1,837,239 

Gold (revaluation reserve)  2,017,178  1,210,407 

$  3,854,417 $  3,047,646 

COST:
   Balance as at June 30, 2018 $  572,937 $  3,043,405 $  1,452,829 $  604,016 $ $  3,148,777 $  1,228,190 $  - $  10,050,154 

   Additions  -  -  20,598  128,771  135,332  17,340  -  302,041 
   Disposals  -  -  (341,994)  (246,332)  (2,017,209)  (371,903)  -  (2,977,438)

   Balance as at June 30, 2019  572,937  3,043,405  1,131,433  486,455  1,266,900  873,627  -  7,374,757 
   Additions  -  -  35,209  46,426  40,783  2,502  -  124,920 
   Additions in ROU  -  -  -  -  -  -  425,226  425,226 
   Disposals  -  -  (2,100)  (40,859)  (3,635)  (6,330)  -  (52,924)

   Balance as at June 30, 2020 $  572,937 $  3,043,405 $  1,164,542 $  492,022 $ $  1,304,048 $  869,799 $  425,226 $  7,871,979 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION:
   Balance as at June 30, 2018 $  - $  569,546 $  1,230,378 $  428,641 $ $  2,621,263 $  945,434 $  - $  5,795,262 
   Additions  -  65,000  95,834  45,860  205,653  54,980  -  467,327 
   Disposals  -  -  (341,994)  (215,476)  (2,017,209)  (369,013)  -  (2,943,692)

   Balance as at June 30, 2019  -  634,546  984,218  259,025  809,707  631,401  -  3,318,897 
   Additions  -    65,000  72,000  44,714  183,922  53,829  94,262  513,727 
   Disposals  -    -    (2,100)  (40,859)  (3,635)  (6,330)  -    (52,924)

   Balance as at June 30, 2020 $  -   $  699,546 $  1,054,118 $  262,880 $ $  989,994 $  678,900 $  94,262 $  3,779,700 

NET BOOK VALUE:

As at June 30, 2020 $  572,937 $  2,343,859 $  110,424 $  229,142 $ $  314,054 $  190,899 $  330,964 $  4,092,279 

As at June 30, 2019 $  572,937 $  2,408,859 $  147,215 $  227,430 $ $  457,193 $  242,226 $  -   $  4,055,860 
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET

Property, plant and equipment, net are comprised of the following:

COST:
   Balance as at June 30, 2018 $  572,937 $  3,043,405 $  1,452,829 $  604,016 $ $  3,148,777 $  1,228,190 $  - $  10,050,154 

   Additions  -  -  20,598  128,771  135,332  17,340  -  302,041 
   Disposals  -  -  (341,994)  (246,332)  (2,017,209)  (371,903)  -  (2,977,438)

   Balance as at June 30, 2019  572,937  3,043,405  1,131,433  486,455  1,266,900  873,627  -  7,374,757 
   Additions  -  -  35,209  46,426  40,783  2,502  -  124,920 
   Additions in ROU  -  -  -  -  -  -  425,226  425,226 
   Disposals  -  -  (2,100)  (40,859)  (3,635)  (6,330)  -  (52,924)

   Balance as at June 30, 2020 $  572,937 $  3,043,405 $  1,164,542 $  492,022 $ $  1,304,048 $  869,799 $  425,226 $  7,871,979 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION:
   Balance as at June 30, 2018 $  - $  569,546 $  1,230,378 $  428,641 $ $  2,621,263 $  945,434 $  - $  5,795,262 
   Additions  -  65,000  95,834  45,860  205,653  54,980  -  467,327 
   Disposals  -  -  (341,994)  (215,476)  (2,017,209)  (369,013)  -  (2,943,692)

   Balance as at June 30, 2019  -  634,546  984,218  259,025  809,707  631,401  -  3,318,897 
   Additions  -    65,000  72,000  44,714  183,922  53,829  94,262  513,727 
   Disposals  -    -    (2,100)  (40,859)  (3,635)  (6,330)  -    (52,924)

   Balance as at June 30, 2020 $  -   $  699,546 $  1,054,118 $  262,880 $ $  989,994 $  678,900 $  94,262 $  3,779,700 

NET BOOK VALUE:

As at June 30, 2020 $  572,937 $  2,343,859 $  110,424 $  229,142 $ $  314,054 $  190,899 $  330,964 $  4,092,279 

As at June 30, 2019 $  572,937 $  2,408,859 $  147,215 $  227,430 $ $  457,193 $  242,226 $  -   $  4,055,860 

Land

Housing

Property

Office

Building

Improvements Vehicles

Office

Equipment

Office

Furniture

and Fittings

Right of Use

Asset (ROU) Total
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12. INTANGIBLES

COST:
   Balance as at June 30, 2018 $  1,036,360 
   Additions  98,145 
   Disposals  (730,365)

   Balance as at June 30, 2019  404,140 
   Additions  47,540 
   Disposals  - 

   Balance as at June 30, 2020 $  451,680 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION:
   Balance as at June 30, 2018 $  872,825 
   Additions  115,990 
   Disposals  (649,709)

   Balance as at June 30, 2019  339,106 
   Additions  54,063 
   Disposals  -   

   Balance as at June 30, 2020 $  393,169 

NET BOOK VALUE:

As at June 30, 2020 $  58,511 

As at June 30, 2019 $  65,034 

Software

Intangibles assets are comprised of the following:

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a 
lease in IFRS 16.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after 1 July 2019. 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration 
in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property 
the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a 
single lease component.

13. LEASE
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As a Lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is 
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease 
term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-
use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those 
of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing sources 
and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased. 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of 
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it 
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.
 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and 
equipment’ and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position.

The Group leases office facilities. The leases typically run for a period of 4 years, with an option to renew the lease after that 
date. Lease payments are often updated every year to reflect market rentals.

Previously, these leases were classified as operating leases under IAS 17. 

The Group leases IT equipment (valued USD 13,467 at June 2020) with contract terms of three years, which will be 
automatically extended for another additional year unless either party gives the other party written notice of its intent not 
to continue the agreement. This lease is of low-value items. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for this lease.

Property, plant and equipment comprise owned and leased assets that do not meet the definition of investment property 
(see note 11).

Note USD

2020

Property, plant and equipment owned 11  3,761,315 

Right-of-use assets, except for investment property 11  330,964 

 4,092,279 
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Call accounts represent the total on-balance amounts held by clients in bank accounts with the Company. Funds in excess 
of $100,000 (2019: $ 100,000) are placed out on a fiduciary basis for the account and risk of the account holder(s). The 
balance in these consolidated financial statements represents the first $100,000 held in each account.

14. CALL ACCOUNTS

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.

I. Right-of-Use

Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment property are presented as 
property, plant and equipment:

USD

2020

Balance at 1 July  425,226 

Depreciation charge for the year  (94,262)

Balance at June 30  330,964 

USD

2020

Current  146,762 

Non-Current  197,034 

Balance at June 30  343,796 

USD

2020 - Leases under IFRS 16

Interest on lease liabilities  13,744 

Expenses relating to short-term leases  153,363 

Expenses relating to leases of low-value- assets.  13,467 

2019 - Operating leases under IAS 17

Lease expense  366,370 

II. Lease liability

III. Amounts recognised in profit or loss

36



Notes 2020 2019

Provision for staff benefits (*) 25 $  2,280,550 $  2,101,680 

Provisions - other (*)  962,046  861,529 

Accounts with related entities 25  50,700  -   

Accounts payable  614,386  556,592 

Commissions payable  191,998  110,410 

Social security  99,871  105,900 

Taxes payable in advance  -    1,289 

$  4,199,551 $  3,737,400 

15. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are comprised of the following:

Initial 
Balance  Additions 

Reductions 
(Payments)

Final Balance
June 2020 

(*) Provisions:

Provisions for staff benefits:

   Provision for bonuses and profit share $  1,889,922 $  2,070,000 $  (1,889,922) $  2,070,000 

   Other staff benefits provisions

      (holiday leave, 13th salary)  211,758  476,794  (478,002)  210,550 

$  2,101,680 $  2,546,794 $  (2,367,924) $  2,280,550 

Provisions - other: $

   Legal fees $  454,530 $  109,600 $  (25,449) $  538,681 

   Director fees  78,522  166,642  (184,513)  60,651 

   Audit fees  151,169  154,381  (153,784)  151,766 

   Taxes  136,365  173,347  (141,757)  167,955 

   Other provisions  40,943  96,689  (94,639)  42,993 

$  861,529 $  700,659 $  (600,142) $  962,046 

Advances from clients are credit balances corresponding to clients who have made advance payments on account. Fees 
received in advance includes the portion of annual client fees which have been collected in the year ended June 30, 2020, 
and relate to periods subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position date.

16. ADVANCES FROM CLIENTS AND FEES RECEIVED IN ADVANCE
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18. COMMISSIONS AND FEES ON FIDUCIARY TRANSACTIONS, NET

2020 2019

Winterbotham call accounts net fees $  4,634,455 $  3,045,562 

Brokerage and currency exchange services  1,030,426  838,122 

Custody services  829,609  974,704 

Structured operations  787,710  577,752 

Total fees on fiduciary transactions $  7,282,200 $  5,436,140 

Winterbotham call accounts net charges and commissions $  (383,686) $  (305,448)

Brokerage charges and commissions  (60,606)  (28,614)

Custody charges and commissions  (134,041)  (104,581)

Commissions on structured operations  (209,144)  (23,384)

Total costs related with fees on fiduciary transactions $  (787,477) $  (462,027)

At June 30, 2019, the Company had two short term loans for a total of USD 510,050: USD 250,000 at an annual interest rate 
of 2.57% maturing in December 10, 2019 and USD 260,050 at an annual interest rate of 5% and maturing in May 13, 2020. 
Additionally, a loan of Uruguayan Global Bonds 08/14/24 for a nominal amount of USD 104,000 was received in February 
2019 and is valued at market price as to June 30,2019 at USD 111,488.

At June 30, 2020, the Company has two short term loans for a total of USD 510,050: USD 250,000 at an annual interest rate 
of 2.19% maturing in January, 2021 and USD 260,050 at an annual interest rate of 5% and maturing in May, 2021. The loan 
of Uruguayan Global Bonds 08/14/24 for a nominal amount of USD 104,000 is valued at market price as to June 30,2020 
at USD 113,880.

Moreover, in the current year the Group has recognized Lease Liabilities for USD 343,796 (see note 13).

17. LOANS AND INTEREST PAYABLE

19. SALARIES AND BENEFITS

During the year, an amount of $ 2,070,000 (2019: $1,898,000) was awarded to the staff as profit share and bonus.
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2020 2019

Other expenses $  963,275 $  931,971 

Professional advisors  915,431  767,801 

Marketing expenses  288,367  303,769 

Travel  300,709  428,028 

Bad debts  231,952  212,021 

Rent  266,434  366,370 

Directors' fees and expenses  186,468  208,077 

Licenses and fees  235,843  222,359 

Utilities  127,635  139,367 

Maintenance  172,741  139,323 

Insurance  127,652  123,128 

Taxes on net worth of corporations  90,784  41,577 

Tax- Sales or Value Added Tax (VAT)  126,818  172,760 

$  4,034,109 $  4,056,551 

20. ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES

21. FINANCIAL INCOME - NET

2020 2019

Net interest earned $  1,984,130 $  1,637,489 

Realized and unrealized gains on investments  737,657  1,135,610 

Result of the change in foreign exchange rates  15,994  22,243 

Interest cost on lease liabilities  (13,744)  - 

$  2,724,037 $  2,795,342 

22. DIVIDENDS

Dividends are accounted for in the period in which they are declared by the Group’s Board of Directors.

On June 30, 2020, dividends of $2.60 per share (total dividends $6,500,000) were declared (2019: $1.80 per share totaling 
$4,500,000).
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23. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

This represents capital funding received from the shareholders of The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited for purchase 
of 97% of The Winterbotham Trust Company (Hong Kong) Limited on May 22, 2009.

Article 93 of the Uruguayan Company Law (Law 16.060) establishes that companies must contribute at least 5% of the 
annual net profits towards the creation of a legal reserve until the reserve reaches the equivalent of 20% of the relevant 
Company’s paid in capital.  This includes share capital and contributed surplus.

2020 2019

Opening balances:
  Legal reserve $  102,259 $  91,320 
  Reserve for tax exoneration  97,893  97,893 

 200,152  189,213 
Additions (reductions):
  Legal reserve  13,654  10,939 

 13,654  10,939 
Closing balances:
  Legal reserve  115,913  102,259 
  Reserve for tax exoneration  97,893  97,893 

$  213,806 $  200,152 

24. RESERVES
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25. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Related parties include officers, directors, shareholders and other companies with common ownership.  Where these 
related parties have the authority and responsibility for directing and controlling the authorities of other companies 
(established to participate in the Group’s business activities), these entities are also regarded as related parties in these 
consolidated financial statements.  Entities administered by the Group on behalf of clients where the Group also provides 
directors are not considered related parties.

Balances and transactions with related parties:

2020 2019

Balances:

   Prepaid expenses and other assets:

      Accounts with related entities $  - $  11,735 

      Loans to staff - key management personnel $  - $  1,776 

   Provision for staff benefits $  1,318,857 $  1,108,367 

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

   Accounts with related entities $  50,700 $  - 

   Call accounts $  420,419 $  209,971 

Transactions:

   Salaries and benefits - key management personnel $  2,411,184 $  2,391,308 

   Employee profit participation - key management personnel $  1,318,857 $  1,108,367 
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26. TAXATION

The Winterbotham Trust Company (Uruguay) S.A. and its wholly owned subsidiary Winterbotham Fiduciaria S.A. 
Administradora de Fondos de Inversión are domiciled in Uruguay and subject to Uruguayan tax laws.  The tax regime in 
place in Uruguay includes personal and corporate income tax.

Uruguayan tax law is applied on a territorial basis as opposed to a universal taxation system which determines that where 
the company is doing business, receiving income and/or holding its assets (i.e. has Uruguayan source income and assets) 
within Uruguayan territory is subject to tax at the following rates:

a. Income Tax (“IRAE”)    25%
b. Tax on net worth of corporations  1.5%
c. Sales or Value Added Tax (VAT)  10% or 22%

Where a company has Uruguayan source income, it will have to pay a minimum monthly tax or IRAE at a rate of 25% of its 
taxable net income as an advance (please refer to point (a) above) the amount of which will depend on the level of its prior 
year’s taxable net operating income.

Withholding tax on interest payments for loans granted by foreign lenders, which do not operate locally in Uruguay, shall 
be applied at the rate of 12%.

Payment of dividends: Dividend payments are subject to a 7% withholding tax.

Double taxation treaties: Uruguay has signed double-taxation agreements with the following countries:  Germany, Spain, 
Hungary, Mexico, Switzerland, Portugal, Liechtenstein, Ecuador, Malta, India, South Korea, Argentina, Finland, Belgium, 
England, Luxembourg, United Arab Emirates, Romania, Vietnam, Singapore and Paraguay.

Additionally, Uruguay has signed tax information exchange agreements with: France, Denmark, Greenland, Iceland, Faroe 
Islands, Norway, Sweden, Australia, Canada, The Netherlands, Chile, South Africa and Guernsey.
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2020 2019

Profit before tax $  507,189 $  233,843 

Fiscal adjustment for inflation/conversion  221,504  169,044 

Non-deductible expense  (255,066)  (10,612)

Taxable profit $  473,627 $  392,274 

Income tax using corporate tax rate (25%) $  118,407 $  98,069 

27. INCOME TAX

Companies subject to Corporate Income Tax are The Winterbotham Trust Company (Uruguay) S.A (rate 25%), its subsidiary 
Winterbotham Fiduciaria S.A. Administradora de Fondos de Inversion (rate 25%), The Winterbotham Trust Company (Hong 
Kong) Limited (rate 16.5%) and WTC International Bank (Puerto Rico) (rate 4%).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The deferred tax stated corresponds to differences between book and tax values of fixed assets originated mainly by 
differences of valuation and depreciation criteria.

The deferred tax is the tax expected to be paid or recovered based on the differences existing between the book value of 
an asset or liability, and its tax value.

Assets for deferred tax, as at June 30, 2020, arise from applying the tax rate in force at that moment (25% for Uruguay and 
4% for Puerto Rico) on the temporary taxable differences of US$ (12,830) (2019: US$ (24,238)), which correspond to the 
different valuation criteria and fixed assets depreciation criteria and to differences for unused tax losses.

Assets for deferred tax are recognized as long as the entity is likely to have fiscal earnings against which to use the deductible 
temporary differences. Liabilities for deferred tax are normally recognized for all the temporary taxable differences.

Assets and liabilities for deferred tax are offset when related to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the entity 
seeks to liquidate its assets and liabilities current tax on a net basis.

As at June 30, 2020, income tax are attributable to the following:

Deferred tax recognized for the period:

         Assets

2020
Charge/benefit 

for the year
Conversion 
adjustment 2019

Temporary differences arising from differences in

    fixed assets' valuation and depreciation criteria $  (7,131) $  (6,154) $  195 $  (1,172)

Temporary differences for unused tax losses  44,420  18,984  -  25,436 

$  37,289 $  12,830 $  195 $  24,264 
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Tax breakdown as at June 30, 2020:

28. FIDUCIARY OPERATIONS

As at June 30, 2020, The Winterbotham Merchant Bank, a division of The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited used for 
banking activities, and the Winterbotham International Securities a division of the Winterbotham Trust Company Limited 
used for brokerage activities, had entered into fiduciary agreements for an aggregate amount of $1,233,162,090 (2019: 
$1,698,695,505).

The clients bear all risk and responsibility for activities carried out by the entity on their behalf under these contracts. The 
depositors agree to indemnify and hold harmless The Winterbotham Trust Company Limited, its directors, employees, 
agents and representatives against all liability, losses or damages arising out of or in connection with the fiduciary 
agreement.

2020 2019

Current tax charges:

   Income tax using corporate tax rate (25%) $  131,237 $  122,307 

Deferred tax benefit  (12,830)  (24,238)

Total $  118,407 $  98,069 
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 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognized, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instruments are disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
 
The following table analyzes the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined by IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation:

2020

FVTPL
Amortized

cost Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
   Cash and cash equivalents $  - $  41,403,528 $  41,403,528 
   Trade receivables, net $  - $  1,015,520 $  1,015,520 
   Prepaid expenses and other assets $  - $  53,090 $  53,090 
   Repurchase agreements $  - $  2,523,134 $  2,523,134 
   Investments $  17,319,986 $  - $  17,319,986 
   Security deposits $  - $  1,017,664 $  1,017,664 

Totals $  17,319,986 $  46,012,936 $  63,332,922 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
   Call accounts $  -   $  41,258,217 $  41,258,217 
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $  -   $  4,199,551 $  4,199,551 
   Loans and interest payable $ - $  681,454 $  681,454 
   Dividends payable $  -   $  6,500,000 $  6,500,000 
   Lease Liabilities $ - $  343,796 $  343,796 
Totals $ - $  52,983,018 $  52,983,018 

2019

FVTPL
Amortized

cost Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS
   Cash and cash equivalents $  - $  36,669,238 $  36,669,238 
   Trade receivables, net $  - $  1,206,378 $  1,206,378 
   Prepaid expenses and other assets $  - $  84,074 $  84,074 
   Repurchase agreements $  - $  779,862 $  779,862 
   Investments $  20,269,123 $  - $  20,269,123 
   Security deposits $  - $  1,039,873 $  1,039,873 

Totals $  20,269,123 $  39,779,425 $  60,048,548 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
   Call accounts $  -   $  40,661,658 $  40,661,658 
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $  -   $  3,737,400 $  3,737,400 
   Loans and interest payable $ - $  644,686 $  644,686 
   Dividends payable $  -   $  4,500,000 $  4,500,000 
Totals $ - $  49,543,744 $  49,543,744 
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The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

 • Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets  
  for identical assets or liabilities;

 • Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included
  within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
  (i.e. derived from prices); and

 • Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for
  the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
 

There were no transfers between any of the levels in the current period.

30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

       2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value

   through profit and loss

   Quoted equities and bonds $  17,319,986 $  - $ -   $  17,319,986 

Total $  17,319,986 $ - $ - $  17,319,986 

       2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value

   through profit and loss

   Quoted equities $  20,269,123 $  - $ -   $  20,269,123 

Total $  20,269,123 $ - $ - $  20,269,123 
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31. RISK MANAGEMENT

June 30,
2020
US$

June 30,
2019
US$

ASSETS:

   Cash and cash equivalents 0.51% 2.07%

   Repurchase agreements 2.32% - 10.5% 2%- 10.5%

The Group engages in transactions that expose it to various risks in the normal course of business.  These risks include 
capital risk, market risk, including interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and fiduciary risk 
management.  The Group’s financial performance is dependent on its ability to understand and effectively manage these 
risks.

a. Capital risk - The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.  The capital structure of 
the Group consists of net debt (call accounts offset by cash and cash equivalents) and equity attributable to equity holders 
of the Group, comprising issued capital, contributed surplus, legal reserves, revaluation reserves and retained earnings as 
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged since 2019 
and meets the regulatory capital adequacy requirements.

b. Market risk - Market risk is the risk that the fair value of an instrument or the cash flows from an instrument will fluctuate 
as a result of changes in market prices.  The main market risks are interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.  The Group 
enters into a variety of financial instruments to manage its exposure to this risk.

 i. Interest rate risk -The Group is exposed to cash flow and fair value interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents
 and reverse repurchase agreements. The Group manages this risk by consistent monitoring of interest rate
 fluctuations.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis is determined based on the Group´s exposure to interest bearing assets and liabilities at 
the date of the statement of assets and liabilities. 
As at June 30, 2020 the Group had 19 interest bearing assets (2019: 19).

If the interest rates at June 30, 2020 had increased/decreased 50 bps with all other variables held constant, this 
would have decreased/increased net assets and the profit for the year ended at June 30th by $105,167, resulting 
from a decrease/increase in the fair value of the interest bearing assets.

ii. Foreign exchange risk - This is the risk of loss resulting from foreign currency translation.  Currency risk is 
managed by matching liabilities with assets within the same currency whenever possible. The following table 
shows the USD equivalent of all currencies held:
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c. Credit risk - The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of losses that would have to be recognized if counterparties 
fail to perform as contracted.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is primarily in respect of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, repurchase 
agreements and investments. As at the consolidated statement of financial position date, the Group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of the above assets disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. The repurchase agreements are adequately collateralized by pledges of assets managed by the Group on behalf 
of the borrowers.

2020 2019

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

   Neither past due or impaired $  41,403,528 $  36,669,238 

TRADE RECEIVABLES:

   Neither past due or impaired $  244,528 $  483,906 

   Past due not impaired $  770,992 $  722,472 

   Impaired $  536,942 $  409,093 

2020

GBP CAD EURO CHF USD HKD OTHER TOTALS

Assets $  3,377,383 $  628,380 $  3,606,569 $  1,827,628 $  55,060,167 $  351,708 $  1,799,076 $  66,650,911 

Liabilities  3,226,059  571,274  3,370,837  586,811  44,993,041  192,511  1,431,137  54,371,670 

Coverage $  151,324 $  57,106 $  235,732 $  1,240,817 $  10,067,126 $  159,197 $  367,938 $  12,279,241 

2019

GBP CAD EURO CHF USD HKD OTHER TOTALS

Assets $  3,457,866 $  498,442 $  3,518,197 $  1,443,692 $  51,632,938 $  381,169 $  1,620,263 $  62,552,567 

Liabilities  3,307,533  493,609  3,403,941  526,869  42,141,150  69,775  1,090,714  51,033,591 

Coverage $  150,333 $  4,833 $  114,255 $  916,823 $  9,491,789 $  311,394 $  529,548 $  11,518,976 

Sensitivity analysis
The Group performed a sensitivity analysis to changes in foreign exchange rates based in the exposure detailed 
above and the conclusion is that no material impact to the profit for the year would have been observed if foreign 
exchange rates increased/decreased 0.5% respect the value of the USD with all other variables held constant.
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2020

GBP CAD EURO CHF USD HKD OTHER TOTALS

Assets $  3,377,383 $  628,380 $  3,606,569 $  1,827,628 $  55,060,167 $  351,708 $  1,799,076 $  66,650,911 

Liabilities  3,226,059  571,274  3,370,837  586,811  44,993,041  192,511  1,431,137  54,371,670 

Coverage $  151,324 $  57,106 $  235,732 $  1,240,817 $  10,067,126 $  159,197 $  367,938 $  12,279,241 

2019

GBP CAD EURO CHF USD HKD OTHER TOTALS

Assets $  3,457,866 $  498,442 $  3,518,197 $  1,443,692 $  51,632,938 $  381,169 $  1,620,263 $  62,552,567 

Liabilities  3,307,533  493,609  3,403,941  526,869  42,141,150  69,775  1,090,714  51,033,591 

Coverage $  150,333 $  4,833 $  114,255 $  916,823 $  9,491,789 $  311,394 $  529,548 $  11,518,976 

Certain receivable balances include fees invoiced in advance but not accrued as to June 30, 2020.  This portion of trade 
receivables are not considered when creating the provision for bad debts.  Similarly, some of the receivable balances 
include the request for the corresponding Company Annual Government Fee. This amount does not represent a receivable 
risk for the Company as it will only be paid to the Registrar of Companies if duly settled by the client. Therefore, these 
amounts are not considered when creating the provision for bad debts.

2020 2019

REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS:

   Neither past due or impaired $  2,523,134 $  779,862 

d. Liquidity risk - Liquidity risk arises when the Group has to meet its obligations on borrowed funds and deposits.  The 
Group manages its liquidity risk by matching as far as possible liabilities with assets of similar maturity periods.
 
Assets and liabilities are due to mature based on the period remaining to maturity from the consolidated statement of 
financial position date, as follows:

June 30, 2020
No set 

maturity / Up
 to 3 months

3 - 6
months

Over 6
months Total

ASSETS: 

   Cash and cash equivalents $  41,403,528 $  - $  - $  41,403,528 

   Trade receivables, net  486,406  -  529,114  1,015,520 

   Prepaid expenses and other assets  -  -  53,090  53,090 

   Reverse repurchase agreements  2,523,134   -  -  2,523,134 

   Investments  17,319,986 -  -  17,319,986 

   Security deposits  -  -  1,017,664  1,017,664 

$  61,733,054 $  - $  1,599,868 $  63,332,922 

LIABILITIES:

   Call accounts $  41,258,217 $  - $  - $  41,258,217 

   Accounts payable and
   accrued liabilities  4,199,551  -  -  4,199,551 

   Loans and interest payable  421,404  -  260,050  681,454 
   Dividends payable  6,500,000  6,500,000 

   Lease liabilities  34,782  35,601  273,413  343,796 

$  52,413,954 $  35,601 $  533,463 $  52,983,018 
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e. Fiduciary risk management - The Group is engaged in significant custodial and fiduciary activities that give rise to the 
risk that it will be accused of mal-administration or non-compliance with the wishes of its clients.  To manage this exposure, 
the Group generally takes a conservative approach in its undertakings.

f. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities - The fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or 
a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  Underlying the definition of fair 
value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention or need to liquidate, reduce the scale of 
its operations or undertake a transaction on adverse terms.
 
In the opinion of management, the estimated fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date were not materially different from their carrying value due to their short term nature.

June 30, 2019
No set 

maturity / Up
 to 3 months

3 - 6
months

Over 6
months Total

ASSETS: 

   Cash and cash equivalents $  36,669,238 $  - $  - $  36,669,238 
   Trade receivables, net  849,690  -  356,688  1,206,378 
   Prepaid expenses and other assets  -  -  84,074  84,074 
   Reverse repurchase agreements  779,862   -  779,862 
   Investments  20,269,123 -  -  20,269,123 
   Security deposits  -  -  1,039,873  1,039,873 

$  58,567,913 $  - $  1,480,635 $  60,048,548 

LIABILITIES:

   Call accounts $  40,661,658 $  -   $  - $  40,661,658 
   Accounts payable and
   accrued liabilities  3,737,400  -    -  3,737,400 
   Loans and interest payable  384,636 -  260,050  644,686 
   Dividends payable  4,500,000 -  -  4,500,000 

$  49,283,694 $  -   $  260,050 $  49,543,744 

32. OPERATIONAL CONTEXT - UNCERTAINTIES

On March 11, 2020 the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 disease caused by the novel coronavirus, which 
originated in China, a pandemic. Many Governments around the world responded by introducing emergency orders 
whereby businesses, other than those deemed to be essential services, were shut down and the general population made 
to stay at home. The impact brought the economy in the respective countries to a virtual standstill. After some months, 
restrictions are being slowly eased but where social distancing and the wearing of masks are becoming the new normal 
against the backdrop of the threat of a second wave of the virus and fears of an economic downturn. These conditions 
create significant uncertainty as to the continuing impact on the industry within which the Group operates and by extension 
the impact on the Group. The financial impact and its duration cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

As of October 21, 2020, management was not aware of any significant adverse effects on the financial statements for the 
year ended June 30, 2020 as a result of COVID-19.
Management will continue to monitor the situation and the impact on the Group, its financial condition, liquidity, operations, 
suppliers, industry and workforce.

* * * * * *
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T h e  W i n t e r b o t h a m  Tr u s t  C o m p a n y  L i m i t e d
( I n c o r p o r a t i n g  T h e  W i n t e r b o t h a m  M e r c h a n t  B a n k )

W i n t e r b o t h a m  P l a c e
M a r l b o r o u g h  &  Q u e e n  S t r e e t s

P. O .  B o x  N - 3 0 2 6 ,  N a s s a u
T h e  B a h a m a s

 
Te l . :  ( 1 - 2 4 2 )  3 5 6  5 4 5 4
F a x :  ( 1 - 2 4 2 )  3 5 6  9 4 3 2

n a s s a u @ w i n t e r b o t h a m . c o m

S W I F T :  W N T R B S N S 

W TC  I n t e r n a t i o n a l  B a n k  C o r p o r a t i o n

2 7 0  M u ñ o z  R i v e r a  A v e n u e ,  S u i t e  3 2 0
S a n  J u a n  –  P u e r t o  R i c o ,  0 0 9 1 8

Te l . :  ( 1 - 7 8 7 )  6 2 2  0 0 6 0
F a x :  ( 1 - 7 8 7 )  6 2 2  0 0 5 9
w w w . w t c i n t b a n k . c o m

 
S W I F T :  W T C B P R S J
A B A :  0 2 1 - 5 0 8 - 1 0 9

T h e  W i n t e r b o t h a m  Tr u s t  C o m p a n y  ( U r u g u a y )  S . A .

W i n t e r b o t h a m  H o u s e
A v .  d e  l a s  A m é r i c a s  8 0 0 0

P a r q u e  M i r a m a r ,  C a n e l o n e s  1 4 . 0 0 0
U r u g u a y

Te l . :  ( 5 9 8 )  2 6 0 1  6 5 4 4
F a x :  ( 5 9 8 )  2 6 0 1  7 6 1 4

m o n t e v i d e o @ w i n t e r b o t h a m . c o m

T h e  W i n t e r b o t h a m  Tr u s t  C o m p a n y 
( H o n g  K o n g )  L i m i t e d

U n i t  3 1 0 3 A ,  3 1 s t  F l o o r , 
To w e r  2  L i p p o  C e n t r e , 

8 9  Q u e e n s w a y ,  A d m i r a l t y . 
H o n g  K o n g

Te l . :  ( 8 5 2 )  2 5 2 6  6 8 9 8
F a x :  ( 8 5 2 )  2 5 2 6  6 8 9 7

w w w . w i n t e r b o t h a m . h k
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